RELATIONSHIP-BASED CHILD PROTECTION: PRACTICE INFORMED BY INDIGENOUS SOCIAL WORK STUDENTS IN THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES.

by

Tasha Lake, BSW, Laurentian University, 2011

An MRP

presented to Ryerson University

in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the degree of
Master of Social Work
in the Program of
Social Work

Toronto, Ontario, Canada, 2014

© Tasha Lake 2014

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION FOR ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION OF A MRP

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this MRP. This is a true copy of the MRP, including any required final revisions.

I authorize Ryerson University to lend this MRP to other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research

I further authorize Ryerson University to reproduce this MRP by photocopying or by other means, in total or in part, at the request of other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research.

I understand that my MRP may be made electronically available to the public.

ABSTRACT

Relationship-Based Child Protection: Practice Informed by Indigenous Social Work Students in the Northwest Territories.

Master of Social Work, 2014

Tasha Lake

Program of Social Work,

Ryerson University

This study explores Ingenious perspectives of relationship building and how this perspective might be adapted into a child welfare context. The study was born out of my experience working in child welfare in the community of Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. The theoretical framework draws from an Anti-Colonial perspective and the research methodology was adapted from critical ethnography to fit the scope of the research project. The sample includes 4 diploma of social work students from Aurora College in Yellowknife Northwest Territories as well as field notes from my personal journals from when I lived in the community and field notes from a data collection trip to Yellowknife, Northwest Territories in the Spring of 2014. Findings provide community perceptions of social workers, community standards, a process of relationships-based practice and the benefits to this practice style.

Barriers to relationship-based practice are also identified as an area for further exploration.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This MRP required huge support from many different people. I want to take this opportunity to extend my deepest gratitude to all of those involved through this process. Each one of you provided a played a critical role to help me realize this project. To all of the students who participated in this study, without you there would be nothing on these pages. Despite the busy time of year you all took time to share your knowledge with me. I hope other social workers will have the privilege of learning from you as I have. To Vanessa Rankin (my dear friend and Instructor at Aurora College), Sandy Little (Senior Instructor at Aurora College) Lia Ruttan (Instructor at Aurora College) and Sherry Budzinski (Administration at Aurora College), I would not have made it to Yellowknife if not for all of you...not to mention the space, food, guidance, assistance with typos, time and feedback. To Lisa Barnoff my advisor and Lynn Lavallee, who were both concerned about my eagerness to endure two ethical board review and travel to the Northwest Territories, and who were both full of support and guidance throughout this process right down to my last minute panic. To all of the community Agencies in the Northwest Territories who approved this project, I hope your communities will experience some benefit from this research. And to my amazing partner Mike Williams for supporting me (in all meanings of the term) though this journey of going back to school, again!

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this MRP to the four social work students who participated in this study.

I cannot say their names for confidentiality reasons.....but you know who you are!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
My Rationale	1
The Purpose of This Research	1
Social Location	2
My Whiteness	4
How I Challenge the System	5
Literature Review	7
Indigenous Families and Child Welfare	7
Colonialism and Racism	9
Indigenous Perspectives on Relationships	10
Relationship Building in Child Welfare	11
Gaps in the Literature	12
Importance and Relevance to AOP	15
Theoretical Framework	18
Personal Connection	18
Anti-Colonialism	18
Strengths and Limitations	19
Anti-Colonial Assumptions and Perspectives	19
Anti-Colonial Influences	22
Methodology	23
Critical Ethnography	23
Modifications	25
Sample	26
Recruitment	27
Data Collection	28
Data Analysis	29
Findings	32
Too Much Data!	32
Supported by the Literature	32
Community Perceptions of Social Work	34
Education	35
The Process-Community Engagement	36
The Process-Connection	38
The Process-Beyond the Connection	40
Take Some Time	42
Beyond the Family	43
Benefits	43
Possible Challenges	45
Reflections	46
Discussion	47
My Thoughts	47
Education is Prevention	47

A Solution and A Problem	48
Supported by the Literature	48
Implications to Social Work Practice and AOP	49
Ethical Considerations	50
Limitations	51
Dissemination	51
Conclusion	52
Appendices	53
Reference List	58

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A – Recruitment Flyer	48
Appendix B – Interview Guide	49
Appendix C – Consent Form	50

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

My Rationale

I worked as a child protection worker in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories; during this time I thought about the effects of colonization that I saw each day. I thought about the role that I played in continued colonization through the child welfare system; it did not sit right with me and I wondered what I might do. One thing that was really striking to me was the sense of community and the strong relationships I noticed among my Indigenous¹ clients. I noticed that the relationship was not the same between social workers and the Indigenous community. I suspected there was a barrier and I wondered how to address it. I recognized that the power disparity in the client-worker relationship was one part of the barrier with history and current systemic issues such as racism and poverty, being others. This experience, the questions I had and the dynamics I noticed in my work are what lead me to this research.

The Purpose of This Research

The purpose of this MRP is to explore how relationship-based practice can become a regular form of practice for child protection workers. I use the term relationship-based practice as a practice style, which focuses on the quality of the client-worker relationship. Several scholars, as discussed in my literature review, support this definition by highlighting the characteristics that are necessary for relationship-based practice, including trust, respect collaboration, understanding and emotional depth (Emerson & Magnuson, 2013;Bennette,

I often hear the term Aboriginal used as a "catch all" to refer to First Nation, Métis and Inuit peoples. I have been taught in several contexts this is the correct term to use. I notice that the literature sometimes uses the term Aboriginal and other times Indigenous. When I met with participants for this study I asked about their preference. The majority of participants told me that Indigenous was the most appropriate term to use. I use the term Indigenous exclusively in this MRP, despite what the literature has used.

Zubryxchi & Bacon; 2011; Dale, 2004; DeBoer & Coady, 2007; Platt, 2008; Child Welfare League of Canada, 2000).

I seek to understand this from the perspective of Indigenous social work students in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. The methodology used in this research draws from critical ethnography, which is grounded in redistribution of power (Madison, 2005). The theoretical framework of this research draws from Anti-Colonial thought to recognize the historical and current context of colonization and to challenge this by providing decolonizing alternatives to practice (Hart, 2009; Sinclair, 2009).

Social Location

Absolon &Willet (2005) suggest that socially locating at the onset of the writing process is a way to resist colonial writing processes. In an Indigenous perspective socially locating is seen as a way of creating accountability and building trust (Absolon &Willet, 2005). Socially locating is done during introductions through sharing how one fits into the community (Lavallee, 2009). With these suggestions in mind I would like to introduce myself.

Along with my four sisters, I was raised by both of my parents in a double income family in a white middle class resort town in Ontario. For the most part our childhood was easy; our parents encouraged us to learn work ethic through paper routes, baby sitting and shared chores around the home. We had a privileged up bringing which allowed us to participate in extra curricular activities and have all of our basic needs met. I suppose I could say it was a sheltered life. I left home after high school and moved to the west coast. This was the first time I really noticed the disparity of income and opportunities between groups of people. I lived next to a reserve in British Columbia. I wondered about why the people in my community appeared to have many more opportunities than those on the reserve. I wondered why there appeared to be

different challenges in the two communities. This is when I became interested in Indigenous issues. I did not understand what was happening, but I knew it was wrong. I went on to college and then university. In my BSW I learned about colonization and was able to make connections to my previous observations. I wanted to do something about it, so I went to the North. I thought I was prepared, thought I knew what I needed to know about the colonization of Indigenous people. But I was wrong. This was when I discovered that I was still contributing to the problem. I am hopeful that this research will be used to make some positive change.

According to Kennedy, Adams, Bybee, Campbell, Kubiak & Sullivan (2012) social location is where one fits into the intersections of stratified systems, such as race, gender, socioeconomic status etc. Within each of these systems there are varying amounts of privilege, with privilege comes varying amounts of power. Heron (2005) describes that it is necessary for social location that one looks at these intersections to understand ones own place of privilege. Once we have an understanding of our privilege(s) we can begin to implicate ourselves by understanding the power that we hold in certain contexts. Within the context of this research my privileges are rooted in race, job, education, up bringing and opportunities.

I embark on this research from my social work practice experience. Because I am white I had mixed feelings about working in the North and I consulted one of my Indigenous professors. The advice that he gave me was to never forget the history of colonization of Indigenous people and the generational trauma that has resulted from it. Additionally he reminded me to continue to unpack my own privileges through understanding of my social location. This is what I did and this is how I discovered that I was contributing to the problem. I would like to note that as I entered my work in the North concerned about my whiteness, I also entered this research process with the same concerns.

My Whiteness

According Simpson & Yun (2011) Whiteness often has the following components 1) the privileges that come with race, 2) white ontology and 3) cultural practices that are generally invisible to the white person. When I worked in the North I was reminded of my whiteness on a daily basis. I did not understand community standards, child rearing practices and I had never been a subject of colonization. The discomfort that I experienced in my role was multi layered and troubled me. The theoretical colonization and generational trauma that I had learned about were no longer theoretical; they were the reality of people's lives. I contributed to continued colonization through my role as a child protection worker. I was governed by policies that in my opinion did not seem to align with some of the ways of being that I noticed in the Indigenous community. For example, I noticed that many Indigenous families would let their children play at the park; there would be several children of all ages playing together. Parents of all children would be checking up and older siblings and community members would be watching the vounger children. In the social work context² that I worked in, this was not safe. I remember playing at a park with some children while my colleague searched for the parents to explain what was an acceptable level of supervision might look like.

I struggled with the demands and expectations of the job, while attempting to be what I thought was a "good" social worker. I experienced criticisms from colleagues for my practice of "letting the parents run the show", which was my attempt at trying to balance power, or practice Anti-Oppressively. I worked with one family for about 10 months; there were concerns and there were also strengths. I saw a single mother who worked hard and wanted to be independent. I

² It is important to note that in my experience working in the Northwest Territories the term social work is considered synonymous with child protection. This is because the vast majority of social workers in the Northwest Territories are child protection workers. Keeping within the context of this study, I also use the terms synonymously.

provided her with the support she identified she needed and I remained honest with her about my concerns. I felt we worked together and when I left she wished me well told me that she would miss me. I knew then that I had done something right, despite the disapproval from my colleague.

I entered the MSW program at Ryerson and continued to reflect on and deconstruct this experience. I continue to struggle with my power and privileges as a white social worker, the fact that I have never experienced poverty, trauma or marginalization and how I could use my privilege to the advantage of the people I serve, rather than as a tool of oppression. I wish to use my power and privileges, to stand in solidarity with Indigenous communities through conducting research with a decolonizing agenda. Baskin (2005) maintains that if we do not conduct decolonizing research with Indigenous communities, than what there is no meaningful point of conducting the research.

I hope this research is viewed with my intention in mind and that Indigenous communities in the Northwest Territories will realize some benefits. In simple terms, when I say "decolonizing" what I mean is to redistribute power, through challenging oppressive colonial systems. In this research I have done this in two ways 1) I consulted and learned from the Indigenous literature, community members and the participants of this study 2) I challenged the status quo of child welfare practice by including opinions of Indigenous social work students.

How I Challenge the System

Several scholars discuss the child welfare system as being rooted in colonial practices, many of which are not necessarily relevant to Indigenous communities (Baskin, 2003; Pon, Gosline & Phillips, 2011; Crichlow, 2002; Hart, 2002; Sinclair, 2009). This problem is historical, multi faceted and must include Indigenous perspectives. In this research I make the assumption

that culturally appropriate service provision can help to shape a new future of practice, one that moves away from the historical disparity of power in the child welfare system. I argue that one way to do this is through relationship-based child protection practice, which I explored in this study and will discuss for the remainder of this paper.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Indigenous Families and Child Welfare

While this MRP is not specifically about the historical context of colonization of Indigenous people through the child welfare system, I think it is important to pay respect through recognition. One of the common themes in the literature that I have reviewed is the importance of this history with respect to understanding current day practices and systems. History is also central to the study design of critical ethnography (Madison, 2005). In addition, I strongly feel that exclusion of a basic understanding of this history would be a disservice to this research and to the Indigenous participants involved in this study.

Research with Indigenous communities must involve a historical understanding of colonization, assimilation and power and how these affect Indigenous communities (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Bull, 2010; Harms, Middleton, Whyte, Anderson, Clarke, Sloan, Hagal, & Smith, 2011; Lavallee, 2009; Baskin, 2003). This understanding is a key starting point for the decolonization process and particularity relevant to social workers working in child welfare with Indigenous communities (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Baskin, 2003; Pon, Gosline & Phillips, 2011; Crichlow, 2002).

Several scholars have discussed current child welfare practices of apprehensions and placements of Indigenous children in out of home care, as an extension of the residential school era (Baskin, 2003; Pon, Gosline & Phillips, 2011; Crichlow, 2002; Hart, 2002; Sinclair, 2009). The historical time line that is demonstrated in the literature begins with social workers removing Indigenous children from reserves and placement in residential schools (Sinclair, 2009). Residential schools were church run educational facilities that were designed to assimilate Indigenous children to western culture and religion, by extension destroying their connection to

their families, culture, language and communities (Trocme, Knoke & Blackstock, 2004). As residential schools began to close there was a shift to what became known as the "sixties scoop". From 1960 to 1990 the general practice in child welfare was to remove Indigenous children from their biological families and adopt them into non-Indigenous families (Trocme, Knoke & Blackstock, 2004).

Today there is an over representation of Indigenous children in the child welfare system, and living in out of home care (Pon, Gosline, & Phillips, 2011; Baskin, 2003; Isaac & Stokes, 2009; Trocme, Knoke & Blackstock, 2004). Pon, Gosline & Phillips (2011) state that there are three times the amount of Indigenous children in out of home care today then there were at the height of residential schools. Trocme, Knoke & Blackstock (2004) argue that overrepresentation is related to a number of disadvantages, which present as risk factors (unstable housing, substance use, low income). Risk factors often present as neglect and are therefore viewed as neglect, with little space for consideration of the underlying reason for the risk factor. The large majority of Indigenous families are investigated for neglect, while the underlying cause is actually systemic poverty (Blackstock, 2009).

The child welfare system has been described as being based on White/mainstream ideals, values and child rearing practices (Crichlow, 2002; Long & Septhon, 2011) and is inadequate for addressing the issues that cause over representation of Indigenous children (Isaac & Stokes, 2009). Blackstock (2009) discusses that a fundamental difference between mainstream and Indigenous ideals is the concept of time. She discusses "seven generations" as individuals and communities learning from the wisdom of the past seven generations and considering the consequences to the next seven generations. She stated that this does not happen in a meaningful way in the current child welfare system.

Further mainstream ideals have been described as in conflict with Indigenous familial relations and child rearing practices (Crichlow, 2002; Hart, 2002; Long & Septhon, 2011). Indigenous ontology posits that healthy or well communities raise healthy children (Blackstock, 2009). Communities work together to raise children. In my experience I have noticed that mainstream child rearing is familial based, where Indigenous child rearing is community based and extended family members are actively involved in raising children. In addition Trocme, Knoke & Blackstock (2004) speak about the importance of race matching foster parents to provide some continuity and community connection for children when they are in care.

Colonization and Racism

Colonization can be understood as re- arrangement, re-representation and re-distribution of knowledge, practices and goods (Smith, 1999). Colonization is responsible for the production of the idea of the "other" (Smith, 1999). Hart (2002) describes colonization as beginning with the destruction of Indigenous economic systems; this is when power was first demonstrated. The process of colonization can be described as subordination, removal of lands, children and traditional systems, effectively and intentionally destroying language, culture and traditions (Morrissette, MacKenzie & Morrissette, 1993; Hart, 2002). Colonization has created cyclical effects of economic dependency, poverty, unemployment, internalized colonization and internalized oppression (Morrissette, MacKenzie & Morrissette, 1993; Hart, 2002).

Colonization inherently creates a racialized analysis, which supports a superior and inferior way of being and doing (Morrissette, MacKenzie & Morrissette, 1993). Several scholars discuss the key role that race plays in colonization; that racism is inherent, inevitable and important to the conversation of colonization (Lawrence & Dua, 2005; Silver, Ghorayshi, Hay & Klyne, 2006; Absolon & Willet, 2005). When legislation is based on mainstreams ideals, such as

child welfare legislation, it creates space for other ways of being to be deemed as deviant. This is the foundation of racism in the child welfare system.

There is little space for a conversation of cultural norms or appropriateness. In this way, as described by Morrissette, MacKenzie & Morrissette (1993) the child welfare system in Canada is a tool to support a racist colonial agenda, which is demonstrated by the over representation of Indigenous children (Pon, Gosline & Phillips, 2011; Baskin, 2003; Isaac & Stokes, 2009) and through service design and provision that do not adequately address issues of structural poverty (Crichlow, 2002; Long & Sephton, 2011; Baskin, 2003; Isaac & Stokes, 2009; Blackstock & Trocme, 2005).

Indigenous Perspective on Relationships

An Indigenous worldview is centered on spirituality, there are several pillars to this including wholeness, balance, relationships, harmony, growth, healing and mino-pimatisiwin (the good-life) (Hart, 2009; Morrissette, MacKenzie & Morrissette, 1993). Relatedness, or connectedness is one of the primary values in Indigenous communities (Baskin, 2005).

Relationship building is fundamental to working with and conducing research with Indigenous communities (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Baskin, 2005) and the foundation of a positive relationship is honesty and respect (Harms et al, 2012). Building positive relationships may look slightly different between cultures; however, much of the literature I reviewed identifies similarities between what defines a positive relationship, or what qualities must be present (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Dale, 2004; DeBore & Coady, 2007; Platt, 2008; Child Welfare League of Canada, 2000).

Introductions are the first point of relationship building in Indigenous communities; including sharing how one fits into the community (Absolon, & Willett, 2005; Lavaelle, 2009;

Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011). The introduction is an important aspect of relationship building, it is an opportunity to share with one another. Beyond the introduction, clients want to be heard and to be treated with respect, dignity and honesty (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Dale, 2004; DeBore & Coady, 2007; Platt, 2008; Child Welfare League of Canada, 2000). Relationships building in conducting research, as communities members and in work with Indigenous communities is a process of slowly building trust. Contrary to a western perspective, the relationship does not end because the work together does (Baskin, 2005).

In an Indigenous world view, the helping relationship is an important aspect of the process of helping, meaning that the nurturing of this relationship is an important part of the help that is offered (Hart, 2002). When there is a focus on relationship building it brings harmony or balance to the power imbalance (Malloch, 1989; Ross, 1996, as cited in Hart, 2002). Harmony, or balanced power can be achieved through the way in which helpers deliver help. Indigenous helpers who bring this concept of relatedness and relationships building to their help, are able to provide help in such a way that defies expectations of one who is helping and one who is helped.

Relationship Building in Child Welfare

This section discusses studies I have reviewed that have provided me with some of the challenges to, predictors of and outcomes of building positive relationships in a child welfare context. This section includes studies that were done with Indigenous participants, which are indicated by "Indigenous communities/families" and studies that were with done with mainstream or a mixed sample of participants.

DeBore and Coady (2007) advise that relationship building in child welfare can be difficult and indicate that obstacles include high caseloads, unpredictability of work, paper work

and client-worker power imbalances. Additionally, anxiety, uncertainty and the sensitive subject matter work against relationship-based practice in child welfare (DeBore & Coady, 2007).

Some predictors of a positive client-worker relationship are the presence of open communication and the frequency of visits (Lee & Ayon, 2004). In Indigenous communities, key characteristics of positive client-worker relationships include respect, an understanding of Indigenous ways, deep listening, stillness, accurate understanding of events, sensitivity, communication and being spoken to in a calm and respectful manner. In addition, the delivery of adequate information in a manner that makes sense and not jumping to conclusions or making judgments have been identified as important characteristics to working with Indigenous communities. (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon; 2011; Dale, 2004; DeBore & Coady, 2007; Platt, 2008; Child Welfare League of Canada, 2000).

Some of the positive outcomes of relationship-based practice can include increased honest disclosures, mutual ownership over service plans and increases in appropriate assessments and interventions (DeBore & Coady, 2007). In addition, positive client-worker relationships can work to challenge current perceptions of the child welfare system DeBore & Coady (2007) and have been associated with positive outcomes in parents ability to cope and to address the physical needs of their children (Lee & Ayon, 2004). Additionally, building trusting and respectful relationships and redistribution of power can help in the decolonization process with Indigenous communities (Harms et al, 2012).

Gaps in the Literature

I think it is first important to note that I do not claim to have reviewed all relevant literature on this topic, as I do not believe is possible with in the context of an MRP. I have reviewed two types of literature for this research, theoretical literature which has contributed to

my understanding of many of the concepts discussed and studies, which have shown me what has been explored related to my topic, thus leading me to knowledge gaps. I have learned that the way this topic has been studied has produced a natural gap, which I seek to address in this research. For me the questions left unanswered are 1) *How* are relationships built in Indigenous communities 2) *what* might child welfare workers learn and implement from this.

The studies I reviewed were qualitative in nature, but did not use the methodology of critical ethnography. This may have been due to the time necessary to conduct ethnographic research. While this research does not completely fill this gap, given my own time restrictions, I was able to bring an element of lived experience in the community. Of the studies I reviewed none of the research was conducted in the Northwest Territories. It has been my experience that the Northwest Territories does host many research studies each year, however it could be that they are more related to natural sciences and health rather than social work. In addition studies I reviewed did not speak openly about a theoretical framework of Anti-Colonialism, the impact that this lens might bring to the research, or explicitly indicate a decolonizing agenda. It is important to note that several scholars discuss the importance of using an Anti-Colonial framework (Baskin, 2005; Hart, 2009; Sinclair, 2009), however was is found in theoretical literature, not studies.

The above gaps in the literature might be due to the goals of the particular studies I reviewed, the populations who participated in the studies or researchers positionality, world view and experiences. In addition there were studies that I reviewed that were not conducted with Indigenous communities which would also be relevant to consider when identifying knowledge gaps.

I noticed that there is a lack of Indigenous service users perspectives regarding what is considered a positive relationship within a child welfare context, as much of the research I found specifically about this was conducted in white/mixed race communities. This could be a consideration in future research endeavours.

The literature provides us with characteristics of what a positive relationship looks like from the perspective of non-Indigenous service users (Dale, 2004; Platt, 2008), and experienced Indigenous social workers (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Bessarab & Crawford, 2010). The literature provides an Indigenous perspective of the knowledge that social workers should have regarding colonization and cultural relevance (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Baskin, 2003; Pon, Gosline & Phillips, 2011; Crichlow, 2002). I have not discovered literature that specifically addresses how social workers can understand an Indigenous perspective of relationships and relationship building, what the importance of relationships are to Indigenous service users/communities and what steps can be taken to include this perspective into regular child welfare practice.

I think that my study fills this gap by including the perspective of Indigenous social work students in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. I think this is a unique population because in addition to their Indigenous perspective, they have lived in communities where social work is widely known and negatively viewed, coupled with their social work lens. I also think that my study fills this gap because my research question is concerned with exploring how front line workers can begin to build positive relationships that are relevant to the community they serve. Through the theoretical lens and my personal lens draw from Anti-Colonialism, coupled with a critical ethnography methodology, I seek to challenge power and assume that due to this historical context, power is a barrier to relationship-based practice.

Importance and Relevance to AOP

Anti-oppressive practice is concerned with subordinate/dominate power relations in social relationships (Moosa-Mitha, 2005). Anti-Oppressive Practice calls for a focus on creating spaces that promote empowerment and working in partnership through practice and knowledge production (Poole, Jivraj, Arslanian, Bellows, Chiasson, Hakimy, Pasini, & Reid, 2012). Through recognition and challenge of power imbalances Anti-Oppressive social workers are described as those who embody a person-centered philosophy with a focus on power sharing, egalitarian values and challenges to the status quo (Poole et al, 2012; Larson, 2009). Anti-Oppressive social work empowers clients to become aware of the wider oppressive social systems and gives voice to oppressed groups to affect both personal and social change (Payne, 2005). Social workers working in Indigenous communities have a responsibility to understand and consider the impacts of colonization, privilege and dominant culture (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Harms et al, 2011). Payne (2005) argues that the understanding of social injustice is a key component and starting point of Anti-Oppressive Practice. Within the context of child welfare in Indigenous communities, social workers need to understand the historical context and actively seek to challenge the systems of continued colonization in collaboration with the community. In the context of this research, the relevance to Anti-Oppressive Practice is the discussion of historical and contemporary colonization, understanding the Indigenous perspective of relationships building and providing practice recommendations based on this perspective. In addition this research helps me to nurture my own Anti-Oppressive Practice through personal transformation in how I will conduct my work going forward. With this in mind, social workers and researchers are important aspects of the decolonization process (Baskin, 2003).

I take the position in my MRP that decolonization is an important aspect of Anti-Oppressive Practice. Challenges to continued colonization of the child welfare system through a critique of service delivery fits in with an Anti-Oppressive Practice agenda of addressing social injustices. By including Indigenous voices to propose an alternative way of practice I critique the current practice standards. Further Anti-Oppressive Practice seeks to redistribute power and critique power relations which are central to this MRP, and become visible through the goal of suggestions for collaborative practice. It is in this context that this research is important to Anti-Oppressive Practice because it challenges the status quo of the child welfare service provision and seeks to understand how it can be more relevant to Indigenous communities based on Indigenous perspectives.

Through the theoretical lens and the methodology of this research, I bring attention to unequal power in the child welfare system; I seek to challenge power by understanding how to build positive collaborative relationships where power sharing is central. That said, I recognize that this study is small, and is a starting point to understanding how to build relationship-based practice.

Razack (1998) challenges the idea of innocence and states that it is necessary to implicate oneself in the systems of oppression and ask how we are complacent. I think that it is important to Anti-Oppressive Practice that as researchers/social workers we implicate ourselves. I have been transparent in this MRP about my role in the child welfare system, the discomfort I experienced with being an agent of colonization and my suggestion from the field of how this might be addressed. I think this study is important because it is not a theoretical concept; there is a real problem in child welfare service delivery that is currently affecting people's lives. I also think this research is important because through my community consultation I have been advised

that the community is in support of this research and research like it, as it is viewed as helpful to the process of decolonization and Self Governance.

Furthermore, Anti-Oppressive Practice has been criticized for the lack of recognition of the intersections of racism and the racist colonial agenda (Pon, Gosline & Phillips, 2011; Absolon & Willet, 2005), in this research I push the boundaries of Anti-Oppressive Practice through my methodology, approach and the theoretical lens and personal lens I bring to this research.

CHAPTER 3. THEORITICAL FRAMEWORK

Personal Connection

This research draws from concepts of Anti-Colonialism. I will describe the theoretical framework, and the significance of it to this project, but first I would like to take a moment to describe the significance for myself. It is important to me that I am transparent with my experiences, personal lens, assumptions and values with regard to social work and this research.

From my work experience in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories, and my training as a social worker, I have developed a strong belief in the resistance of colonial forces and the ongoing affects and practices of colonization. On several occasions I felt I was a "contradiction" of this in my role as a child protection worker. Concepts of power, decolonization and solidarity with the Indigenous community are important to me on both a personal and professional level. My personal lens is what has guided my selection of critical ethnography as the methodology and Anti-Colonial influence for my theoretical framework. These were purposeful choices that I selected as I felt they were respectful and supportive of the Indigenous community.

Anti-Colonialism

The intention of this framework is to 1) recognize the ongoing affects of colonization, 2) to recognize the very important and troubled history of oppression of Indigenous people in Canada, 3) and to challenge oppressive systems of power and privilege in an act of resistance and decolonization.

I draw from concepts of Anti-Colonialism and I understand it as stated by Hart (2009), that Anti-Colonialism is a social, political and cultural stance. Anti-Colonialism challenges current oppressions rooted in a colonial framework by critiquing the historical and contemporary oppression of Indigenous people (Sinclair, 2009). Further, Anti-Colonialism supports resistance,

decolonization and the reclaiming of culture and rights of Indigenous people. In this view Anti-Colonialism enables and supports Indigenous centered practice (Sinclair, 2009).

Strengths and Limitations

Anti-Colonialism questions institutional power and privilege (Hart, 2009). When considering the child welfare system, Anti-Colonialism provides the platform to question the relevance of specific legislation such as the Child and Families Services Act, the governing body that delivers child welfare services and within the context of this research specific practice styles of front line child welfare workers. A strength of Anti-Colonialism in this context is that it allows me to consider what influences front line practice such as practice standards, legislation and top down directives. While this research focuses on the individual practice of front line workers, I understand that practice style is largely influenced from the "higher" powers. Anti-Colonialism in this context would look at the big picture of child welfare, the rules and regulations, not the nuisances of individual workers. The limitation to this is that Anti-Colonialism does not provide me with a platform of what individual frontlines workers bring to the work, as such through the Anti-Colonial lens I understand workers to be "doing what they are told" by a predetermined set of expectations. My hope is that recommendations from this research for front line work would be taken up by policies that inform practice standards.

Anti-Colonial Assumptions and Perspectives

Razack, Smith & Thobani (2010) state that colonization is the beginning of the rise of the exalted nation subject, or what they refer to as "the citizen". Lawrence & Dua (2005) remind us that the history of colonization must be present in our minds as current day experiences are a product of nationalism. Lawrence & Dua (2005) state that if we treat the past as something that has ended, we then treat Indigenous nationhood as something of the past; this leaves Indigenous

people in a place whereby they are forced to embrace the prescribed national identity, or remain on the margins of settler nationhood.

The exalted national subject as described by Thobani (2007) is an ideal that a certain person, or group of people, embody specific characteristics. Thobani (2007) describes that those who do not appear to represent these characteristics are categorized as "other". She describes "othering" as the blame for ones failure in society, which is further exemplified by the success of a few. This could imply that those who demonstrate more White or mainstream characteristics are more successful then those who do not. This allows the mainstream to continue to be successful at the expense of the "other", and to continue to believe that they have inherent worth that the "other" simply does not. Similarly, Fee & Russell (2007) note that Whiteness can be attributed to a specific set of behaviours, that are historically variable, contested and often unknown to the white person.

If we look at child rearing and the child welfare system in the Northwest Territories, we might apply this thinking. In my experience there was an over representation Indigenous families that were involved with child welfare. My estimation based on my experience is that approximately 90% of families were Indigenous, while the population of Indigenous people in Yellowknife is approximately 30% (Government of the Northwest Territories, 2011). With the idea of Nationalism in mind we might suspect that the disproportionate number of Indigenous children in the child welfare system is because child rearing in Indigenous communities differs from that of the dominant culture, or the regulations outlined in the child welfare legislation. This is one example of continued colonization and through the lens of Anti-Colonialism I see the problem of governance and legislation as rooted in these ideas of nationalism.

Pon, Gosline & Phillips (2011) discuss the rise of the exalted white social worker as a representation of these desirable characteristics. White social workers positioned themselves as being moral, caring and kind, and juxtaposed this to Indigenous mothers as deficient and impaired. This served as a rationale for white social workers to "save" Indigenous children during the residential school era and continues today by placing them in out of home care through the child welfare system. In this way social work is implicated in supporting the colonial agenda through the child welfare system (Bailkie, 2009).

White female social workers are further able to distance themselves from the status of exalted national subject as Razack (1998) describes that white women are able to retreat to a position of subordination in their status as women, and therefore are unable to be oppressors. Fee & Russell (2007) describe "innocent ignorance" as white female social workers who have continued permission to conduct oppressive activities, as we are able to avoid implicating ourselves in the systems of oppression.

Overall the issue is large and historical, the problem is that there is an over representation of Indigenous children and families in the child welfare system, which is comprised of many non-Indigenous social workers, policy makers and policies. Anti-Colonialism is concerned with challenging a larger institutional agenda, and for purposes of this MRP I see this process as beginning in front line work. Top down change is inaccessible within the scope of this research, so I look to the front line of service provision to attempt to affect change. If Indigenous social work students can make recommendations to improve front line practice than perhaps practice standards will draw from these ideas.

Anti-Colonial Influences

This project was designed from my personal desire to conduct research that is decolonizing. This desire comes from my past work experience and the inner conflict I experienced while working in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. I recognize that I am white and I am conducting research in Indigenous communities that have historically been exploited in this context (Brown & Strega, 2005). Recognizing that my scope and opportunities for decolonization are limited I decided the design of this project needed to be specific and the first aspect is to be transparent. I have been transparent in my writing and communications with the community. I made every effort to create a "level playing field" during my interactions with participants. As I am studying relationship building, I attempted to build relationships with participants, through the presentation, the face-to-face interviews and the opportunity for transcript review. Additionally, the community will remain informed through to dissemination of this study.

CHAPTER 4. METHODOLOGY

Critical Ethnography

In this research I have used a modified version of critical ethnography. I will begin by discussing critical ethnography and how I used it through this research. I will then discuss the specific modifications I have made to fit in with the scope of this MRP.

Critical ethnography includes recognition of the current and historical local context (Madison, 2005) and begins with a responsibility to address social injustice within a particular context. The goal of critical ethnography is to challenge the status quo of dominant powers within the context of a specific society (Oladele, Richter, Clark, & Laing, 2012; Madison, 2005; Fassin, 2013). With a focus on challenging power and oppression, critical ethnography has been described as "doing" critical theory (Madison, 2005). Critical ethnography emphasizes the importance of social position, of both the researcher and the participants as a way to understand subjectivities, power and privileges of the researcher (Oladele, Richter, Clark, & Laing, 2012).

During my data collection, I considered my position as a researcher and as an individual who had practiced within the community. I intended to create an equal space in all of my interactions with participants. One of the ways that I did this was through the way I conducted interviews, as discussed in the data collection section.

Ethnography focuses on a culture group, generally the group is large but according to Creswell (2007) sometimes this group may be small. Ultimately this research focuses on Indigenous community members as a culture group, however the perspective is limited as it is represented by a small group of Indigenous social work students and my self as a non-Indigenous child protection worker. Ethnography looks at patterns within the culture group of shared values

and beliefs (Creswell, 2007). Ethnography includes the use of participant observation, described by Creswell (2007) as the researcher immersing themselves into the day-to-day life of the culture group while making observations. While I did not immerse myself during the time I conducted this research, I did immerse myself when I lived in the community. For this reason my participant observations will consist of what I learned during the year that I lived in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories by looking at my journals from this time as well as my undocumented experiences of what I learned while living in the community. The knowledge that I gain during this time is what guided my interactions with participants and also how I was able to gain access to the community.

Creswell (2007) states that an ethnographer gains entrance into the community through a gatekeeper or key information. In the case of my study I was able to gain access to the social work students though an instructor at the school of social work at Aurora College in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. The instructor was introduced to me from a previously developed relationship I had from when I lived in the community. The instructor distributed my recruitment flyer to students and provided me with a room for my recruitment presentation.

Ethnography selects specific themes to observe and discuss with participants (Creswell, 2007), and in my study additional themes I looked for in my journal. In the case of my study the general theme is relationship building, which is broken into subthemes of cultural norms in relationship building and how this could be adapted to a child welfare context.

Creswell (2007) identifies reciprocity and respect as vital to conducting critical ethnography. He further mentions that presenting the research to the culture group as a way to provide information on the research and as an opportunity to share information about the researcher. Respect and reciprocity are both important aspects of relationship building. In my

I valued participants thoughts and experiences. I paraphrased, used clarifying questions and gave opportunities for people to share what they thought was important outside of the question guide. I explained to participants that I wanted to fully understand their meaning, rather then attempting to create my own meaning from their words.

Modifications

Because this research project was born out of my experience in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories, I bring my past into this MRP. I recognize that this project may vary from a typical ethnography, due to the forms of data collected and the constraints of time. In a typical ethnography the researcher would spend long periods of time in the community they are researching. Time was a huge limitation for me in this research, so I draw from my previous experience of living in the community. This research includes my personal journals and observations from the year I lived in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories, which for purposes of the MRP I call field notes. This past spring I was lucky enough to be able to visit Yellowknife, Northwest Territories to collect further data for this research. Again due to the limitations of time my exposure to participants was limited. I collected data through participant interviews as well as observations which I refer to as field notes. In a typical ethnography researchers might have several conversations with each participant, in my study my conversations were limited to one interview and email correspondence. Sample size has been modified to meet the scope of this project to include four participants in addition to my field notes. In addition I collected field notes from my recruitment presentation and interactions with my key informant/gate keeper.

Sample

As previously discussed I used past and present field notes. For the past field notes, I read though the personal journal that I kept when I lived in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories to pull out themes that were relevant to my work in child welfare and my experience in the community. In additional to this journal, I draw from my experiences that I did not document that have influenced my perception of child welfare and the community. For example, I began each interview with sharing with participants that when I lived in the community I observed that families and community members appeared to be very close and helpful with one another.

For present field notes, I made observations during my presentation and my interactions with participants. Included in these interactions, are my face-to-face interactions, such as individual interviews and my email correspondence with each participant.

In addition to the mentioned field notes, I collected data through the use of qualitative interviews. This sample of participants was recruited through the use of criterion sampling, described by Creswell (2007) as all participants meeting a specific pre-determined set of criterion. For this study inclusion criteria includes self-identity as Indigenous and self-identify as a student in the social work diploma program at Aurora College in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. As I will discuss further, I recruited participants from a presentation or lay summary that I held in the school of social work at Aurora College in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. For confidentiality reasons I will not be specific about the gender, the Band or the community participants indentified with; I will say participants shared a range of background and identities with me. In total I conducted four 1- 1.5 hour interviews with four participants, making a total of four interviews.

Recruitment

A recruitment flyer discussing the basic goal of the research and the time and location details of the presentation was sent to my key informant/gate keeper who then distributed it to all social work students via email and hung flyers throughout the school of social work.

A Lay Summary is what Madison (2005) describes as an opportunity to share with participants who you are, what your interests are and your personal rationale for conducting the specific research. In my study the lay summary could be considered the recruitment presentation that I held and invited all social work students at Aurora College in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories; this was my primary recruitment strategy.

The lay summary began with an introduction of myself, my experience working in child welfare in the community and an explanation of my MRP and requirements of the MSW program. I included a brief overview of the literature reviewed specifically the importance of relationships in Indigenous communities and the over representation of Indigenous children in the child welfare system. I provided a brief overview of critical ethnography and the Anti-Colonial theoretical framework and my rationale for drawing from these in this research. Participants were given the opportunity to discuss what they had learned in their classes, as related to the general discussion of the research. I explained what I was asking of participants including 1 interview lasting approximately 1 hour, that the interview would be recorded, transcribed and they would be given a transcript review period. I explained the informed consent process including the opportunity to review the consent form prior to meeting with me and that the interview would begin after we had gone over the form together, signed it and were each given a copy. I provided instructions of how to contact me and how long I would be in

Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. I also explained that I would provide a \$20 honorarium to demonstrate my appreciation of their participation.

There was a light lunch provided to all who attended the lay summary, which was provided in collaboration by the instructors in the school of social work and myself. There were approximately 15 people present for the lay summary including 3 instructors.

Data Collection

My past field notes were gathered from my personal belongings. In addition I used present filed notes, which were collected during my visit to Yellowknife, Northwest Territories including the lay summary and my interactions with participants.

Data was also collected in the form of individual interviews with social work students. Interviews as described by Madison (2005) are a dialogue where questions are used as a guide to an open dialogue for a conversation style interview. Interview questions were based on two themes. 1) The meaning and cultural significance of relationships, and how relationships are built and nurtured in the community, 2) How might this understanding translate to child welfare; what views and values social workers must hold and what steps social workers might take toward this.

During each interview I asked opened ended clarifying questions, paraphrased and asked participants if I understood their meaning correctly. This was important to ensure I accurately understood, to provide participants with space to correct me and to gain their confidence of my understanding of their story. Through the way I asked questions, the manner I conducted myself, and my intention of learning from participations I attempted to create a collaborative space for sharing knowledge. Interviews were recorded and transcribed and participants were given a two-week period to review the transcript and request segment exclusions prior to data coding. This

was done to ensure that participants had adequate opportunity to convey what they wished and to ensure that I understood them. I emailed the transcript in a passcode protected document to the participants with clear instructions regarding their two-week period. I explained to participants that if they did not send me an email by the required date I would consider that they were in agreement with the transcript I presented to them. One participant responded that they had read the material and were ok with it, one responded that they did not read it but were ok with what had been discussed and two participants did not respond at all.

Data Analysis

Data was coded using clustering, where data is grouped into large general themes, or high level coding (Madison, 2005). From the large general themes, concrete themes, or low-level themes emerged; these themes guided the analysis (Madison, 2005).

I began by reading through my past field notes and collecting large general themes. I wrote out the themes on pieces of paper and using post- it notes I took quotes from my journal with each corresponding theme. I then went through this same process with my present field notes and included them to the existing themes and created new themes.

As I conducted interviews I began to notice themes. I was very aware of this and made every effort to not focus on these themes, but to allow the interview conversations to naturally take shape. I was very careful in the interview not to be guided by the emerging themes I was noticing.

Transcriptions were the second method of noticing for themes. I was also aware during this time that the data could change as a result of the two-week review period. Once I had received approval, or inferred approval I listened to each recording again and wrote down all of the themes that stood out to me. For each participant I assigned a coloured highlighter and I drew

a line down the page. I then read through each transcript again and highlighted quotes that appeared to correspond with the themes, and in some cases new themes emerged. I then cut each of the highlighted sections and piled them according to each theme.

Creswell (2007) describes interpretive perspective as a method of analysis whereby the researcher searches the previously developed clusters, or themes, to identify irregularities or commonalities. I selected the themes that I had identified from both the interviews and my field notes and I began to compare and contrast them among one another.

According to Fassin (2013) there is an important connection between the researcher and the participants that reoccurs during the writing process. This concept is important for this research project to allow the voices of the participants to come through in my analysis and writing. Interestingly, during data analysis I imagined the sound of participants voices while I was analysing the data. In this way participants helped to guide the analysis because I could remember the stories that they accentuated. Interpretation is in collaboration, which is a distinguishing aspect of critical ethnography Fassin (2013), and what Oladele, Richter, Clark, & Laing, (2012) refer to as "merging of voice". Creswell (2007) describes a cultural portrait as when the views of the research (etic) and the participants (emic) are incorporated together.

Because I was careful to understand participants to the best of my ability within this scope, the merging of voice, or cultural portrait is somewhat achieved. One limitation to this is that there was far too much data and far too much that participants expressed as important for me to actually fit into the page limit of this MRP. For this reason I had to choose the themes that were either discussed at length by participants or most strongly emphasized by participants.

Additionally, data analysis included a critique of the research process and the study design, as well as a reflection of how the research experiences have affected the researcher (Creswell, 2007) as discussed in the discussion section.

CHAPTER 5. FINDINGS

Too Much Data!

It is important to note that during this research I collected enough data to write three papers, as such I had to limit the data used here to the perception of social work³ in the communities, how participants suggested positive relationships might be fostered and what the benefits of this might be.

I begin by painting a picture of how participants described the perceptions, stigma and general outlook of social workers and their role in the community Through discussion with participants and later through my data analysis, it became clear to me that there is much overlap between the way the participants described the functioning of their homes communities and the advice they would give to social workers working in their communities. For this reason I have decided to weave the themes that emerged through discussion about community standards and social work practice together to develop a process of relationship building. The process of how relationships are built is rooted in community standards and translated to a social work context. These findings will be presented next and followed by what benefits might be seen from relationship-based practice in child welfare and the potential problem to implementation.

Before I detail the mentioned findings, I would like to briefly highlight some other important themes that came up. The reason I noted these as important themes is because they were discussed by participants at length and are consistent with the literature.

Supported By the Literature

Firstly, as supported by literature (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Bull, 2010; Harms et al, 2011; Lavallee, 2009; Baskin, 2003; Pon, Gosline, & Phillips, 2011; Crichlow,

In my experience and conveyed to me by participants, the majority of social workers in the Northwest Territories are child protection workers and many of these social workers are not from the Northwest Territories.

2002), and as outlined in my literature review a solid understanding of both the historical and contemporary context of colonization was considered by participants to be critical to working in the North. This included the role social workers have played, the connection that all people have to residential schools and the generational trauma that exists as a result of colonization. In addition to the larger historical understanding, social workers need to demonstrate some level of understanding of the specific community and family they are working with.

"History for sure....to understand the impact of what happened. If you came to the NWT not knowing about residential schools you came to the wrong place! You really need to understand the community that you work with" (P2).

This would include having some background information on the family, but also being opened minded to learn about the family from the family. Not jumping to conclusions about what the problem is, rather, asking the family what is going on and what they need.

"The best way to get it [background information] is from the client. You need to be willing to listen, ask them questions about their life" (P2).

When workers are new to the community it is also helpful to get a full picture of the family history from other workers before acting. A participant shared a story with me that was about a nurse who was new to the community who did not understand the family and made a report to child protection. As a result the options that were presented were unhelpful to the family.

"The situation, really understanding what is going on....I think if you have the understanding before you go into a meeting if this is the option you want to present" (P3).

Secondly, participants shared community standards of respect, helping and support, sharing, collaboration, choice, and trust and truthfulness. These community standards were described to me as necessary qualities of the relationships that participants have observed and developed in their home communities. These were also considered by participants to be the

qualities that are necessary for social workers to build positive relationships with community members and families. Many of these qualities are also supported in the literature I reviewed (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon; 2011; Dale, 2004; DeBore & Coady, 2007; Platt, 2008; Child Welfare League of Canada, 2000).

"Respect, respect your elders, respect people belongings...if someone needs help you help them" (P1).

"Collaboration is you are hearing them out, listening, respecting what they are saying and then you are expecting them to hear you out" (P2).

Community Perceptions of Social Work

Generally the relationship between social workers and Indigenous communities is strained and negative. This understanding comes from my own experiences and was confirmed by participants. According to participants there is a belief that social workers are only there to remove children and that people from the South are taking jobs away from people from the North. Participants shared that in their communities they have observed a negative relationship and suggest that it is rooted in the difficult historical experiences of Indigenous people with social workers. The stigma that the objective of social workers is removal of children is seen as a judgment to childrening practices, which perpetuates the power that social workers hold.

"All the bad stuff they [social workers] did in the past, I think it carries over. It has just carries over and over" (P1).

"It all goes back to history and residential schools" (P3).

Every participant was very familiar with the stereotype that social workers are there to take children away. Participants shared what their friends and families said to them when they decided to train to become social works.

"There is always that thought that social workers are evil" (P1).

"There is a bad stigma....when I told people that I was going into the [social work] program they said no one will be friends with you, you will be taking children away" (P3).

Raising a family was described as one of the most important life experiences. The way one raises a family is based on their teachings, their own upbringing and their personal and familial values and beliefs. It is considered unacceptable in the community to question child-rearing practices, particularly without having an understanding of the person, where they come from, how they have been raised, or how they have come to make decisions. If social workers are seen as making judgements on child rearing and familial practices it could be a fundamental tension between social workers and the way they are perceived by communities.

"What do you know about my family or the way I was raised...they think of social workers as during the residential schools, they will see that same cycle of how they treat people, how they come into their home and say you are doing this wrong" (P1).

"You don't criticize the way that people choose to raise their families or the way they do things around their home...its their choice" (P2).

Participants shared their own personal experiences with involvement with the child welfare system. In my field notes I indicated that I "got the sense that participants had experienced some difficult times in their lives connected to the child welfare system, that what they had to share was so relevant to this research and that they wanted their voices to be heard". I also noted that one participant in particular seemed to me "to want to challenge the system and affect change in the North".

Education

All participants stated that there is a lack of understanding regarding the role of social work and the services available. This lack of understanding was explained to me as a contributing factor to the negative stigma of social work. Community members are hesitant to seek help from social workers because they fear having their children removed. As a result of

this people are not accessing services when they may greatly benefit from them. Participants determined that the community needs to have a clear understanding of social workers, what their role is, when they might need to apprehend and what other support social workers can provide. Participants shared it would be best for social workers to go into the community and hold educational events that would both provide the information and serve as an opportunity for community engagement.

"The only thing that could bridge the divide is education" (P1)

"I think that the whole community needs to be education about what social work really entails. What they do to get over the stigma of the old" (P1).

Education regarding what social workers should know about the history of Indigenous people came up in interviews as well as during the lay summary. In the lay summary we spoke about colonization, residential schools and the over representation of Indigenous children in the child welfare system in the Northwest Territories and in Canada. These were topics that the students were learning about in their classes and for the students who grew up in the North a history that they are very familiar with. My field notes also indicate that students were interested in my educational journey. Students presented questions to me about the process of BSW and MSW, and afterwards one student asked me for additional details about the process.

The Process- Community Engagement

Basically participants confirmed what was evident from my own observations in the community. There is a negative perception of social work, which makes it very difficult to build meaningful or positive relationships with the community and with the families we work with. I was interested to see what I might learn from my participants for the next time I work in a similar setting, or how other social workers might learn how to challenge these negative experiences and perceptions. Participants provided me with a process of how relationships are

built in their communities and suggest that this process must be the same for social workers.

There are some basic steps to relationship building that participants maintain can apply to social workers working in child protection with Indigenous communities.

The process begins with community engagement. I shared with participants that when I worked in Yellowknife I was afraid to attend community events, such as the drum dance, for fear of being recognized as a social worker and ruining the event. I was told by participants that was my first mistake. I should have gone and participants encourage all social workers to do so. It provides the community the opportunity to see social workers outside of the work setting, the chance to engage with them in a positive setting and it sends the message that social workers are interested in getting to know the community in a more meaningful way. It demonstrates to the community that you are there to do more than your required job and that you are open to learn something new.

"I feel as though they should go...in my upbringing you want to show that you are a part of the community. By attending and doing things in the community you show that you are one of us" (P3).

My lack of attendance at community events was based on what I learned while I lived in Yellowknife. It seemed like it was an office norm that situations that might involve clients when off duty was avoided. I am not saying it was openly discouraged to attend events, but in Yellowknife I did not hear about events that were attended by social workers. I did however speak with workers in other communities who regularly attended community events. While I did not share this with participants, one participant did bring up their perception of workers in Yellowknife with regard to community events.

"Just hearing about how they do work in Yellowknife, that is the case...you are almost kind of told not to [attend events] for fear of getting on better with families and creating divides. I think this is the important part of having healthy boundaries" (P4).

Not only did I not attend community events, I spent most of my free time with other social workers. I found that we had our own little group and work and social life became a mix of the same people. One participant shared with me that they had seen this happening in other communities, and that it was not only social workers, but all professionals sort of stuck together and did not engage in community events.

"Then again, you also got white social workers hanging around the white RCMP and white nurses, they have their own little clique" (P1).

The problem with this is that when social workers, or other professionals isolate themselves by only engaging with one another they solidify their status as an outsider, which creates a barrier to providing a service that is viewed as helpful to the community and perpetuates the negative community perception.

"Like an outsider. There is no feelings, sense or need to want to connect with anyone on any level that is going to be helpful" (P4).

The Process-Connection

Connection is a community norm that begins in the first introduction; it is about determining how you can relate to one another as a starting point in relationship building. This idea of connection is consistent with the literature explored in my literature review. Establishing a connection was described to me as the root of the relationship, from this openness, honestly, trust and collaboration can grow.

"When you meet somebody you generally ask their name and who their mother is to make a connection of how they know you" (P3).

Sharing with somebody where you are from tells them "what your foundation is, who are your grandparents, where are your roots, and how you relate to me....."In Aboriginal communities, connectedness is a huge thing" (P4).

This is one of the reasons that community engagement is so important. Participants told me that it gives the community the chance to see you as human being, to see you as someone with whom they might find some common ground. Connection can happen by determining what commonalities people might share. I was given examples such as sports or other common hobbies as ways to relate to one another if you do not have common heritage. The majority of participants did not think that racial identity was critical, but I was told that it is certainly helpful if you indentify as an Indigenous person.

"Yeah being Aboriginal is a big one.....The majority of it is having a lot of commonalities or being in touch with the person" (P1).

While one participant stated that being Indigenous helps, I found it interesting that another participant firmly believed that it does not matter where you are from, rather the important piece is that you are willing to share this with people.

One participant told me that in their Anti-Oppressive classes they trouble the question of "where do you come from", I shared that we had the same conversations in my Anti-Oppressive classes. We discuss that this question is considered inherently suggestive of "otherness" from an Anti-Oppressive perspective. Contrary to the Anti-Oppressive understanding of this question, the meaning from an Indigenous perspective is about discovering connection. I felt that this participant eloquently challenged the idea of implied "otherness" in this question, and the idea that it is necessary to identify in the same way as another person to make a connection.

"Ok so you as a white women....Its not about you being an outsider, its about where are you from, what are your beliefs, how do you go about your day....Its not about you are something else, its about how do I relate to you" (P4).

Establishing a connection was discussed in a historical context. Participants discussed how their ancestors were nomadic; in their travels they would meet people along the way.

Discussions of family members, geographical regions, genealogical ties, served as a way for

people to understand how to relate to one another and how they might discover commonalities such as family members.

During interviews I was purposeful in my attempt to create a space that was collaborative. I shared stories with participants about my experiences and in turn they shared stories with me. At the time I did not completely realize what was happening, but during analysis of my field notes I realized that this exchange was the initial stage of making a connection. My field notes indicate that I felt a particular connection with two participants one I described as "feeling a connection with because conversation seemed so easy and natural between us". The other I documented how vivid their stories felt for me and how I felt I was getting to know them and their family, I described that "I could almost imagine their mother, and I felt genuine warmth from both the participant and their mother". These two participants followed up with me via email after the transcription process and I was able to extend my offer of providing future social work support, which might suggest these relationships are moving beyond the connection.

The Process-Beyond The Connection

Once a connection has been established you are encouraged to take some time to talk and learn about one another. This was described as beginning at a conversational level and evolving to a deeper personal level. This process of sharing and learning requires honesty and openness; it also creates a safe space for trust to blossom.

"First you would have to get comfortable, talk on a conversational level.....then after that you would have to be trusting enough to open up a bit, and if they can open up and you can open up, then you get that little bond or tie" (P1).

"Open and honest, willing to learn about people, their values in life....what they want out of the relationship, how it is going to benefit them" (P2).

When you are able to learn from someone about who they are, what they believe and what their needs are, you are then able to show the support you have to offer and that you care.

Showing support and effort in the relationship helps to develop trust. Trust is not easily earned, particularity give the historical relationship of social workers and Indigenous communities.

"After that you have to show that you really want to support them and talk about that and help them" (P3)

"Trust is one of the hardest things to earn.....after they see that you are serious about it [the relationship] they will start trusting you "(P2).

The process of building trust and building a relationship can be lengthy and take dedication. In my experience I noticed that families are moved from worker to worker as a result of worker retention or agency demands. I learned that this becomes an issue for families who have also put much effort into trusting a worker and building a relationship with them. Families can become discouraged when they build a trusting relationship with one worker and then have to begin the process all over again.

"All the effort and work they did to build trust with one worker, when a new one comes in who is not the same person, are they gonna do it again, when that worker is just gonna go out too" (P2).

Relationships are a collaborative equal effort process; while I was learning about this process I was also engaging in it. Again it was not clear to me at the time, but I wanted to approach this research in what I thought would be respectful and meaningful to the community. This of course was based on my own assumptions, but I decided to meet face to face with participants and I was told that this was a very important decision for me to make, this helped me to make a connection and to begin to build trust. I provided participants with space to share what they thought was important, and gave them time for transcript review. These demonstrate that I wanted to learn, that the agenda was not already set and that I was open to where the research might take us. Finally as I can relate to what it is like to be a social work student, I told

participants that they were welcome to contact me if they needed any social work support. I think this demonstrated that I wanted to earn trust and build a relationship beyond the research process.

Take Some Time

Time was seen an important aspect to the process discussed in a couple of different ways. While participants understood that social workers are often very busy, with heavy case loads and limited time, they advised against rushing people. Participants shared that if someone has the courage to seek help, particularly given the current community perception of social workers, that giving time is critical. Social workers should avoid giving off the perception that they do not have time to help, even if this might be true. Taking the few minutes to hear somebody out can demonstrate help and support which is necessary to relationship-based practice. Time was also discussed in the context of relationship building. It takes time and dedication to prove to someone that you want to help, to challenge their perceptions of social work and to learn how you can most effectively help them in a sustainable way.

"When there is time to build and support and understand our different background, things would be totally different" (P2)

"I know going into child protection in Yellowknife, having to speak to someone who is very time crunched, its like being at the doctors office. I think if you just take the time to speak respectfully you someone its huge" (P4)

One participant shared a story about their experience dealing with child welfare and described the worker as being time crunched. The participant shared what they would have done differently had they been the worker.

"I would have wanted to meet to talk about it, and then reschedule another meeting to discuss what might help." (P3)

This participant shared that the suggestions of the worker were not helpful and perhaps had the worker had more time to learn and understand the needs of the family, together they

might have developed more appropriate solutions. The worker in this case was only able to offer apprehension which was described by the participant as very unhelpful to the actual problem. The participant shared that they were able to work out the problem on their own, though it would have been helpful to have more support.

Beyond the Family

Finally the process of relationship building was discussed in terms beyond the dynamic of social worker and family, to the dynamic of Indigenous community and white community on a Territorial and National level. I wondered if Anti-Oppressive social workers that hold dedication to challenging power imbalances and social injustices might serve as a support in a larger context. Again I received a conflicting message here as to whether or not social workers might be seen as allies to the Indigenous community.

"I think we are realizing the only was to make change is if we work together [Indigenous community and white community]. Some people are very reluctant to be open-minded. They know that it is a Eurocentric western view that is very oppressive" (P2).

"I don't know. I don't think so its just that social work has such a bad rep. You talk to anybody and they just don't like them, they don't want to go to them"(P1).

Benefits of Relationship-based Practice

Once I had an understanding of what the process of what relationship-based practice might look like, I wondered what would be the point of doing it. I asked participants if they thought there would be any benefits if social workers developed this as standard practice. I was informed that the benefits would be great on a person, familial and community level.

Interestingly I made the assumption that collaboration would be a by-product or a benefit of relationship-based practice, but I learned that it is actually a requirement.

"You would see a lot of lives change for the better if this practice perspective [relationship-based] was embedded into social work practice in the North. Like Southern

social workers, awesome that they are coming to the North, but I don't think they know what they are getting themselves into" (P2).

"You develop positive regard for each other and mutual respect..."You show that you are a human being, not a little grim reaper" (P4).

The participants in this study believed that the benefits on a personal level would include development of positive self-esteem, in turn individuals would see the world more positively and they would make more positive choices. A social worker who demonstrates relationship-based practice would be viewed as a good role model. This would be seen in the community and people would be encouraged to take their lead.

"Yeah, I think that a positive relationship, you as an individual you have a positive outlook, you will do things, you will get things done, you will make accomplishments, you will live a healthy life style. Your outlook, how you treat others will be in a positive way. Like I think relationships are important because if you don't have that in your life you are gonna take things from people, you are not gonna treat yourself with respect" (P2).

One participant shared a story with me about a mother who had gone to a social worker and was received in a positive manner. This treatment of respect and support demonstrated to the mother that this worker was willing to help. The participant stated....

"She came back and took us up on the offer to get child care" (P3).

When individuals have pleasant experiences with social workers they are more likely to go back for help when they need it. They are also more likely to encourage others in their lives to seek help. Healthy individuals or families make healthy communities.

I think you will see a decrease in alcohol, crime, things that are working against communities" (P2).

The end result would be a healthy family. I think that would be the ultimate goal. Their kids are gonna grow up maybe a bit more healthy, and then it will go back to the way it was where everybody respects each other and we have a healthy community again. There is no animosity between each other"(P1).

Possible Challenges

Once I had an understanding of how social workers might build relationships with the community and their families, the next piece is how this might be implemented or how to create a practice that emphasizes relationship building; this is what I have referred to as relationship-based practice. Perhaps this step might appear a natural transition, except during analysis I noticed a possible barrier to implementation. I do recognize that this is of course based on my own experience, and as previously mentioned part of my own therapeutic process. I encountered themes that suggest that we social workers do not have a relationship-based practice with one another, which leads me to wonder if we can actually implement this with our clients. Themes that came up in my field notes were feeling overwhelmed, underprepared for the work and unsupported by colleagues. Some excerpts from these field notes include:

"The office dynamic has become strongly noticeable."

"Peer support is lacking....not the best in this type of work."

"I had a break down this past weekend. I'm exhausted, overwhelmed and honestly sick of this work."

I also remember being told my colleagues that "you either sink or swim in this work" and I was given the feedback that I was" letting the parents run the show" in my attempt to practice Anti-Oppressively. These did not feel like supportive words at the time, and in hind sight I think contribute to a larger culture of "adapt to the status quo of current practice or be judged for your differences". While this is not the point of this particular MRP, I think it is worth mentioning as a potential conflict to relationship-based practice. This is also perhaps an area that might be further explored in another study.

Reflections

I entered this research with hesitance, in part due to my whiteness. I felt so concerned about "doing the right thing" assuming all responsibility without considering the actual scope of work and how it was perhaps fundamentally flawed. I regularly had to be reminded "this is an MRP, not a PhD dissertation". Had this research been larger scale I would have spend much more time in the community, I might have traveled to other communities and spent time with Elders, community members and other Indigenous professionals to develop a more broad perspective. That said, I did receive feedback that indicated that I had done the "right thing" in more of the subtle aspects of the research. I was told that I approached all social work students in such a way that demonstrated I valued their opinions and did not view myself as the expert. I created open spaces for people to speak, share and challenge me. Spending time in person demonstrated that I care. I received support and positive feedback from community agencies that I engaged with through the research licensing process.

This was my first experience as a researcher and it was scary, but everyone I encountered through this process contributed to me feeling inspired and empowered. I am truly grateful for what I have learned from this process with regard to conducting research, working with Indigenous communities and my own social work practice. I have critiqued my practice through this whole process, I have identified areas of strength and weakness. I feel much more confident that this knowledge will allow me to do better while I continue to strive to "do the right thing" when I return to the North.

CHAPTER 6. DISCUSSION

My Thoughts

It is unlikely that this research will affect large scale change with respect to how child welfare workers conduct their practice. This process has changed how I approach my practice and it will be very helpful to my work and my clients when I return to the Northwest Territories. I also hope that this research has contributed to the Anti-Oppressive thinking of the students and participants who were involved in this research. As the majority of students at Aurora College will find themselves working in child welfare, I hope these discussions serve as a compliment to their developing practice.

Education is Prevention

My findings demonstrate that communities in the Northwest Territories require much more education regarding the role of social work and the supports available. I would like to note that I do not believe this lack of understanding is the fault of the community, rather it is the fault of social workers and regional health authorities. In my opinion it is the responsibility of social workers and health authorities to develop strategies to engage with the community in such a way that the community is educated on the services available and what they should expect with these services.

This research has demonstrated that the community does not know the role of social workers, which indicates they do not know the full potential for help and support they might seek. This demonstrates to me that there is much more potential of prevention work in the Northwest Territories, which may assist with limiting the amount of children and families who are involved with social services under a protection status.

Blackstock & Trocme (2005) discuss that Indigenous families have significantly less access to child welfare related supportive services, which may address issues of structural poverty and substance usw. If social workers share with the community more information regarding supports available, housing advocacy, treatment plans, access to counselling, financial support, to name a few, we may increase the access for the families we work with and the community as a whole.

A Solution and A Problem

The most obvious important aspect identified in this study is a concrete understanding of the process of relationship building. I think this study highlights a basic step by step of relationship building. 1) Making a connection based on commonalties, through community engagement, education and individual interactions 2) building mutual respect and trust through a collaborative process of sharing information, needs and exploring options, 3) taking time to understand one another, demonstrating support and collaboratively developing service plans. The fact that this step by step process is completely rooted in cultural norms makes this so important to work in Indigenous communities.

Additionally I made a discovery that a potential problem to implementation of relationship-based practice could be differing practice styles among front line workers which may contribute to the level of worker to worker support that is made available. Because I have identified this based solely on my own experience, I do not suggest that it is common place, rather I suggest there could be benefit from further exploration.

Supported by the Literature

Common themes between my findings and the existing literature were found in the understanding of colonization through residential schools, the sixties scoop and current child

welfare practices of over representation of Indigenous children (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Bull, 2010; Harms et al, 2011; Lavallee, 2009; Baskin, 2003; Pon, Gosline, & Phillips, 2011; Crichlow, 2002). The understanding that social workers need to have regarding this history was consistent in my findings with the literature. Much of what I found in terms of the qualities that social workers need to have in order to practice relationship-based social work is consistent with existing literature. Qualities such as trust, honesty, openness, collaboration and non-judgement are commonly discussed in the literature as was the case in this research (Bennette, Zubryxchi & Bacon, 2011; Dale, 2004; DeBore & Coady, 2007; Platt, 2008; Child Welfare League of Canada, 2000). I previously had some understanding of the Indigenous connection (Absolon & Willet, 2005; Lavallee, 2009) in relationship building, though through this research process I gained a much deeper understanding which will be continually developed through my social work practice and life.

Implications for Social Work Practice and AOP

There are two aspects of this research that I think are of particular importance to Anti-Oppressive Practice. The first is the perceived benefits that could emerge from relationship-based practice. Participants thought that positive changes would be realized on a both a personal and community level. Historically social workers have been seen as a power over group, this research demonstrates that this view is still widely held in the Northwest Territories.

Relationship-based practice as demonstrated in this research might serve as a way to redefine current experiences between social workers and the community. If relationship-based practice is more widely embraced perhaps Indigenous communities and leaders might be able to consider the possibility of social workers as advocates and allies. The ideas and process of developing

relationship-based practice presented from this research are something for Anti-Oppressive social workers, educators and policy makers to consider.

The second aspect of this study that is important to Anti-Oppressive Practice is the consideration of how social workers learn to support one another. Through this study, and my experience I have learned that social workers could improve their peer support. Something to consider is that the Anti-Oppressive classroom is the starting point of a developing practice. We deconstruct theory, we analyze systems, we are told to implicate our self in the larger systems of oppression. It seems a flawless transition to deconstruction the child welfare system, to then deconstructing a colleagues work. Perhaps we need to consider how we might benefit from turning off our deconstructing lens at times, and rather than focus on our different practice styles focus on how we might support one another through our challenges.

Ethical Considerations

I had ethical concerns regarding myself as a white researcher throughout this MRP process. I have had these concerns throughout my social work career working with Indigenous communities, as discussed previously (p3-5). I was asked during the lay summary how I identify. I responded that I identify as white, while making it clear that I do recognize my place of privilege and I seek to challenge the system through this research and my practice as a social worker.

Another ethical consideration is that I conducted research in an Indigenous community without speaking directly to the community where I conducted the research. What I mean by this is I consulted the Indigenous communities in the Northwest Territories on a organization level, and received approval, but I was unable to speak with community members, outside of the participants. This is also a limitation of the study.

Lastly, some readers my feel that an ethical consideration could be the fact that I engaged in the process of relationship building with participants. While it might be considered unethical that I told participants they could contract me in the future, I felt it was appropriate in keeping with the intention of this study. Boundaries regarding relationships between researchers and participants is considered a western perspective and may be in conflict with Indigenous research methods (Baskin, 2005).

Limitations

Because I have used critical ethnography and altered this methodology to fit the needs and scope of this study, this could be seen as a limitation as my past field notes were not done with the intention of using them in research. Additionally the small sample size, limited time in the field, and limited interactions with participants are limitations due to the scope of this project. Another limitation to this study is that I was unable to consult with Elders and general community members, which excludes a rich collection of data that could have contributed greatly to this study.

Dissemination

I have applied for travel funding through the Canadian Polar Commission. One requirement of this funding is submission of a small report of the study and the findings. I will provide this report to the relevant community organizations in the Northwest Territories. This report will also be provided to participants, and serve as communication to keep participants informed of the research process and findings. I will submit the MRP to Ryerson University as partial requirement of the MSW program. The Northwest Territories Métis Nation have requested a full copy of the final MRP. In addition I hope for the opportunity to publish in a child welfare/social work related journal.

CHAPTER 7. CONCLUSION

This study provides an understanding of the community perceptions of social workers in the Northwest Territories, a process to relationship-based practice that is based on community standards and highlights the benefits to this practice style. My understanding of these come from a combination of my experience and the experiences of four social work student participants in Yellowknife. Participants provided a concrete step by step process of how social workers might develop a relationship-based practice with their clients and the community. This process includes community education, community engagement, making connections and building trust and collaboration. This study outlines the expected benefits of relationship-based practice including self-worth, healthy communities and a collaborative road to Self Governance. This study was conducted using a critical ethnography methodology and Anti-Colonial framework, which allowed me to conduct a critical analysis of relationship building within a child welfare context.

Through exploration of what this process might look like, a potential challenge emerged. This challenge is the possibly that social worker peer support might discourage social workers from developing a practice that is viewed as a challenge to the status quo, as was my experience. I make the suggestion that social worker peer support should begin in the Anti-Oppressive classroom. I think if we can learn how to implicate ourselves in the systems of oppression we can learn how to implicate ourselves in office politics!

APPENDIX A



PARTICIPANTS NEEDED FOR RESEARCH IN: Relationship-based Child Protection Practice

I am a MSW student at Ryerson University I am looking for volunteers to take part in a study for my Major Research Paper.

This study seeks to understand how child protection workers can build positive relationships with Aboriginal clients. And how Aboriginal values and beliefs might inform relationship building in this context. This study would like to include those who identify as Aboriginal and as current social work students at Aurora College in Yellowknife.

You would be asked to: To take part in 1 individual interview, which may last approximately 1 hour and to review data from your interview, which may take 1 hour.

In appreciation for your time, you will receive \$20.

Your identity, beyond the inclusion criteria of this study, will be kept confidential.

A information session regarding this study will be held at the school of social work at Aurora College in Yellowknife on *April 8, 2014 in Room 308 at 12:00pm-1:00pm*. For more information about this study, or to volunteer for this study,

please contact:

Tasha Lake
School of Social Work Ryerson University
Email: tasha.lake@ryerson.ca

APPENDIX B

Interview Guide

1) Behaviour or experience questions-address something the researcher has noticed (Madison, 2005)

When I worked in child protection, I noticed that many of the families I worked with had strong extended family and community relationships. Can you tell me about how you have experienced this throughout your life? Can you tell me about how you have experienced relationships between families and social workers and communities and social workers?

2) Knowledge questions- how is this knowledge gained (Madison, 2005).

What are the historical roots of relationships in your community? Is there cultural significance with regard to relationships? What is the process of relationship building in your personal view, or community view? What do you think is important for social workers to know about this? How do you think that social workers can build relationships with families and communities?

3) Opinion or values questions address a judgment or belief toward a particular phenomenon (Madison, 2005).

What do you believe are the benefits of viewing relationships in this way? What do you believe social workers and communities would gain from social work viewing relationships in this way? OR If social workers held the same value of relationships as you do, how do you think they and the community would benefit?

4) Feeling questions-address emotion, passion or sentiments (Madison, 2005).

How do you feel about the importance of relationships in your life? How do you feel about the importance of relationships with your clients as a social worker? OR How do you feel this understanding of relationships would translate to your role as a social worker? OR Do you feel as though this is compatible with your role as a social worker?

5) Advice questions (Madison, 2005).

What advice would you give to social workers who do not have the same understanding of relationships as you? How would you guide a social worker to build relationships in a way that benefits or is relevant to the community?

APPENDIX C



Ryerson University Consent Agreement Relationship-based Child Protection: Practice Informed by Aboriginal Social Work Students (Working Title at the Time)

You are being asked to participate in a research study. Before you give your consent to be a volunteer, it is important that you read the following information and ask as many questions as necessary to be sure you understand what you will be asked to do.

<u>Investigators</u>: Tasha Lake, BSW, MSW candidate, Ryerson University, Social Work Department. Lisa Barnoff, PhD, Supervisor, Ryerson University, Social Work Department.

<u>Purpose of the Study</u>: The purpose of the study is to understand the significance of relationships from an Aboriginal perspective, the relevance to the child welfare system and how child welfare workers can develop positive relationship with the Aboriginal community and clients.

<u>Description of the Study</u>: You will be asked to take part in 1 interview, involving questions related to significance of relationships in your life, how you describe positive relationships and what you consider to be meaningful in a relationship, in addition to your opinions of relationship building with child welfare workers. Interviews will last approximately 1 hour. Interviews will be voice recorded and transcribed by the researcher. You will be asked to review the transcript from your interview prior to data coding. You will receive the transcript within 2 weeks of your interview via code protected email and will be given a period of 2 week in which to review and request any changes. This means that should you wish to have specific segments of the interview excluded from the research, you may request this during this 2 week time frame. A non-response will be treated as though you do not wish to have anything excluded. Requests for exclusions will not be accepted after this 2 week period.

Risks or Discomforts:

Due to the personal nature of the questions that are asked, you may experience unpleasant memories during the interview. Should uncomfortable feelings arise you should determine if you would like to discontinue the interview either temporarily or permanently. Please note this document contains a list of community resources you may wish to contact should uncomfortable feelings arise.

Community Resources:

Resources assessable through NWT Health coverage (NSIB)

Aurora College Counselling Services-Joanne Erasmus (867)920-3004 **Community Mental Health (YHSSA)-** Central intake (867) 765-7715

Additional Services, fee for service or EAP coverage

D Bruce Smith and Associates Psychologist- (867) 669-0621

Family Counseling Division - phone (867) 920-6522 fax: (867) 873-9032

Life Works- phone (867) 920-2391 fax: (867) 873-8800

Northstar Centre for Counseling and Psychological Services

Yellowknife (867) 873-3600 fax: (867) 873-8345 **Psychiatry Services Program** - (867) 873-7042 **Somba Ke Healing Lodge**- (867) 669-0699 **Stirling Counseling Services**- (867) 873-6004

<u>Benefits of the Study</u>: The findings in this research may inform relationship-based child protection services in Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. Additionally, this research might be a resource to child protection workers working in Aboriginal communities.

You may benefit by sharing your knowledge of relationships building to help inform your future child protection practice as well as the practices of others. You may not realize any direct benefits from participation in this study. Community members may benefit from child welfare practices that are informed by Aboriginal perspectives.

Confidentiality: Interviews will be recorded using a participant number code. Recordings will be stored by the researcher and be accessible only to the researcher, for the duration of the research process. All interviews will be transcribed and stored on a pass code protected computer, accessible solely by the researcher. If at anytime a USB is necessary, it will be pass code protected. Transcribed data will be sent to participants in the form of a pass code protected email, participants will be provided with this pass code in a separate email. This revision process will be available for a 2 week period of time prior to data analysis. Identifying information will not be included in disseminated reports to protect the privacy of participants. All data will be stored for the duration of the research project though to dissemination at which point it will be destroyed.

Incentives to Participate:

You will be given a \$20 cash honorarium, which will be provided at beginning of the interview. This honorarium will cover any costs incurred by participation and serves as a token of appreciation for your time and knowledge with regard to this research, it is not contingent on completion of the interview.

Costs and/or Compensation for Participation:

You will be expected to provide your own transportation to the location of the interview, potential costs would be covered by the \$20 honorarium.

<u>Voluntary Nature of Participation:</u> Participation in this study is voluntary. Your choice of whether or not to participate will not influence your future relations with Ryerson University or Aurora College. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw your consent and to stop your participation at any time without penalty or loss of honorarium to which you are allowed.

Questions about the Study: If you have any questions about the research now, please ask. If you have questions later about the research, you may contact.

Tasha Lake (MSW Student Researcher)

<u>Tasha.lake@ryerson.ca</u>

Lisa Barnoff (Supervisor)

Lbarnoff@Ryerson.ca

Please note this study has been reviewed by the Ryerson University Ethics Board. If you have questions regarding your rights as a human subject and participant in this study, you may contact the Ryerson University Research Ethics Board for information.

Research Ethics Board c/o Office of the Vice President, Research and Innovation Ryerson University 350 Victoria Street Toronto, ON M5B 2K3 416-979-5042 rebchair@ryerson.ca

Agreement:

Your signature below indicates that you have read the information in this agreement and have had a chance to ask any questions you have about the study. Your signature also indicates that you agree to be in the study and have been told that you can change your mind and withdraw your consent to participate at any time. You signature indicates that you have provided consent to recording your interview. You have been given a copy of this agreement.

You have been told that by signing this consent agreement you are not giving up any of your legal rights.

Name of Participant (please print)		
Signature of Participant	Date	
Participant Consent to Audio Recording	Date	
Signature of Investigator	Date	

REFERENCE LIST

- Absolon, K. & Willett, C. (2005). Putting ourselves forward: Location in Aboriginal research. In L. Brown & S. Strega (Eds.), Research as Resistance pp. 97-126. Toronto: Canadian Scholars' Press.
- Baikie, G. (2009). Indigenous-Centered Social Work: Theorizing a Social Work Way of Being. Wicihitowin: Aboriginal Social Work in Canada. Fernwood Publishing, Canada.
- Baskin, C. (2003). Structural social work as seen from an Aboriginal Perspective. In W. Shera (Ed.), Emerging Perspectives on Anti-oppressive Practice, p. 65-78. Toronto: Canadian Scholar's Press.
- Baskin, C. (2005). Storytelling Circles: Reflections of Aboriginal Protocols in Research. *Canadian Social Work Review.* p.171-187. 22(2).
- Bennette, B., Zubryxchi, J. & Bacon, V. (2011). What Do We Know? The Experiences Of Social Workers Alongside Aboriginal People. Australian Social Work, p.20-37, 64(1). Retrieved from Social Service Abstracts.
- Bessarab, D. & Crawford, F. (2010). Aboriginal Practitioners Speak Out: Contextualizing Child Protection Interventions. *Australian Social Work*, p.179-193, 63(2). Retrieved from Social Service Abstracts.
- Blacksock, C. (2009). Why Addressing the Over-Representation of First Nations Children in Care Requires New Theoretical Approaches Based on First Nations Ontology. *Journal of Social Work Values and Ethics*. 6(3)
- Blackstock, C. & Trocme, N. (2005). Community-Base Child Welfare for Aboriginal Children; Supporting Resiliency Through Structural Change. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*. Issue 24.
- Brown, L., & Strega, S. (Eds.) (2005). Research as Resistance: Critical, Indigenous and Anti-Oppressive Approaches. Canadian Scholar' Press. Toronto.
- Bull, J. (2010). Research with Aboriginal Peoples: Authentic Relationships as A Precursor to Ethical Research. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, p.13-22. University of California Press. Retrieved from ProQuest.
- Child League of Canada (2000) Child Welfare Services in the Northwest Territories. Retrieved from http://pubs.aina.ucalgary.ca/health/ 66605.pdf.

- Creswell, J. W. (2007) Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. Sage Publications. Thousand Oaks, California, USA.
- Crichlow, W. (2002). Western colonization as disease: Native Adoption and Cultural Genocide. *Critical Social Work*. 3(1). Retrieved from http://www1.uwindsor.ca/criticalsocialwork/western-colonization-as-disease.
- Dale, P. (2004). 'Like a Fish in a Bowl': Parents Perspectives of Child Protection Services. *Child Abuse Review.* p.137-157,13(2). Retrieved from Ebsco Host.
- DeBore, C., & Coady, N. (2007). Good Helping Relationships in Child Welfare: Learning from Stories of Success. *Child and Family Social Work.* p.32-42 12 (1). doi:10.1111/j.1365-2206.2006.00438.x
- Emerson, D., & Magnuson, D. (2013). Child Protection Intervention in Domestic Violence: An Illustrative Case Narrative. *Child & Youth Services*. p.236-249, 34(3).DOI: 10.1080/0145935X.2013.825546
- Fassin, D. (2013). A Case for Critical Ethnography: Rethinking the Early Years of the AIDS epidemic in South Africa. *Social Science & Medicine*. p.199-126, (99).
- Fee, M. & Russell, L. (2007). "Whiteness" and "Aboriginality" in Canada and Australia. *Feminist Theory*. p.187-208, 8(2). DOI: 10.1177/1464700107078141
- Government of the Northwest Territories. (2011). Population Statistics. Retrieved From (http://www.statsnwt.ca/population/population-estimates/
- Harms, L., Middleton, J., Whyte, J., Anderson, I., Clarke, A., Sloan, J., Hagal, M. & Smith, M. (2011). Social Work with Aboriginal Clients: Perspectives on Educational Preparation and Practice. *Australian Social Work*, p.156-168, 64(2). Retrieved from Social Service Abstracts
- Hart, M.A. (2002). Eurocentricism, colonization and resistance. In M.A Hart Seeking Mino-Pimatisiwin, Aboriginal Approach to Helping, pp. 23-35. Halifax: Fernwood.
- Hart, M. A. (2009). Anti-Colonial Social Work: Reflections on an Aboriginal Approach. Wicihitowin: Aboriginal Social Work in Canada. Fernwood Publishing, Canada.
- Heron B. (2005). Self-reflection in Critical Social Work Practice: Subjectivity and the Possibilities of Resistance. *Reflective Practice*. p.341-351, (1).

- Isaac, B, & Stokes, J. (2009). Northern Communities/Southern Bureaucracies: Power Imbalances Within Hinterland Services to Children. Northern and Rural Social Work Practice. Centre for Northern Studies, Thunder Bay.
- Kennedy, A.C., Adams, A., Bybee, D., Campbell, R., Kubiak, S.P., & Sullivan, C. (2012). A Model of Sexually and Physically Victimized Women's Progress of Attaining Effective Formal Help Over Time: The Role of Social Location, Context and Intervention. Society for Community Research and Action. p. 217-228, (50). DOI 10.1007/s10464-012-9494-x.
- Larson, G. (2008). Anti-Oppressive Practice in Mental Health. *Journal of Progressive Human Services*. p.39-54,19(1).
- Lavallée, Lynn. (2009). Practical application of an Indigenous research framework and two qualitative Indigenous research methods: Sharing Circles and Anishnaabe Symbol-based Reflection. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. p.21-40, 8(1).
- Lawrence, B. & Dua, E. (2005). Decolonizing antiracism. *Social Justice*. 32(4): 120-143.
- Lee, C. D., & Ayon, C. (2004). Is the Client-Worker Relationship Associated with Better Outcomes in Mandated Child Abuse Cases? *Research on Social Work Practice*. p.351-357, 14 (5). DOI: 10.1177/1049731504265833
- Long, M. & Sephton, R. (2011). Rethinking the "Best Interests" of the Child: Voices from Aboriginal Child and Family Welfare Practitioners. Australian Social Work, p. 96-112, 64(1). Retrieved from Social Service Abstracts.
- Madison, D.S. (2005) Critical Ethnography: Methods, Ethics and Performance. Sage Publications. Thousand Oaks, California, USA.
- Morrissette, V., MacKenzie, B., & Morrissette, L. (1993). Towards An Aboriginal Model of Social Work Practice: Cultural Knowledge and Traditional Practices. Canadian Social Work Review. p. 91-108, 10 (1). Retrieved from JSTOR.
- Moosa-Mitha, M. (2005). Situating Anti-Oppressive Theories Within Critical and Difference-Centered Perspectives. In L. Brown & S. Strega (Eds.), Research as Resistance (pp. 37-72). Toronto: Canadian Scholars' Press.
- Oladele, D., Richter, S., Clark, A., & Laing, L. (2012). Critical Ethnography: A Useful Methodology in Conducting Health Research in Different Resource Settings. The Qualitative Report. P 1-21, 17 (77).
- Payne, M. (2005). Modern Social Work Theory (3rd Edition). Lyceum Books. Chicago, Illinois. USA.

- Poole, J., Jivraj, T., Arslanian, A., Bellows, K., Chiasson, S., Hakimy, H., Pasini, J. & Reid, J. (2012). Sanism, 'Mental Health', and Social Work Education: A Review and Call to Action. *Intersectionalities*. P. 20-36, 1(1).
- Pon, G., Gosine, K., & Phillips, D. (2011). Immediate response: Addressing Anti-Native and Anti- Black Racism in Child Welfare. *International Journal of Child, Youth and Family Studies*. p.385-409, 3(4).
- Platt, D. (2008). Care of Control? The Effects of Investigations and Initial Assessments On the Social Worker-Parent Relationship. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, p.301-315, 22(3). Retrieved from Ebsco Hos
- Razack, S. (1998). Introduction: Looking white people in the eye. In Looking white 181-people in the eye: Gender, race and culture in courtrooms and classrooms, pp. 3-22;185. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Razack, S., Smith, M., & Thobani, S. (2010) Introduction. In S. Razack, M. Smith, & S. (Eds.). *States of race: Critical race feminism for the 21* Canadian Scholars Press.
- Thobani, S. (2007). Introduction: Of exaltation. In Exalted subjects. Studies in the making of race and nation in Canada, pp. 2-29; 257-266. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Trocme, N., Knoke, D., & Blackstock, C. (2004). Pathways to the Overrepresentation of Aboriginal Children in Canada's Child Welfare System. *Social Service Review*. p.577-600. 78(4).
- Smith, L. T. (1999). Colonizing knowledges. In *decolonizing methodologies: Research* and *Indigenous peoples* (pp. 58-77). London & New York: Zed Books Ltd
- Silver, J., Ghorayshi, P., Hay, J., & Klyne, D. (2006). Sharing, community and decolonization: Urban Aboriginal community development. In J. Silver et al. (Eds), In Their Own Voices: Building Urban Aboriginal Communities, pp. 133-189. Halifax: Fernwood Publishing.
- Simpson, J. S., & Yun. E. (2011). Anti-Racism and Anti-Colonialism in Canada: Identifying Key Components of Critical Pedagogy in Film. *Education, Pedagogy and Cultural Studies*. p. 365-376, (33). DOI: 10.1080/10714413.2011.597649.
- Sinclair, R. (2009). Bridging the past and the Future: An Introduction to Indigenous Social Work Issues. Wicihitowin: Aboriginal Social Work in Canada. Fernwood Publishing, Canada.
- Trocme, N., Knoke, D., & Blackstock, C. (2004). Overrepresentation of Aboriginal Children In Canada's Child Welfare System. *Social Services Review.* p. 577-600, 78(4).